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SMITH et al. v. SAULSBURY.
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COURT OF APPEALS OF GEORGIA, THIRD DIVISION

286 Ga. App. 322; 649 S.E.2d 344; 2007 Ga. App. LEXIS 759; 2007 Fulton County D.
Rep. 2179

July 5, 2007, Decided

PRIOR HISTORY: [***]]
Breach of contract, etc. Gwinnett Superior Court. Be-
fore Judge Hamil.

DISPOSITION:  Judgment affirmed.

HEADNOTES
Georgia Advance Headnotes

(1) Contracts Law. Defenses. Illegal Bargains. Preter-
mitting whether it was a violation of federal law to sell
an online software product used to copy DVDs, defend-
ants failed to establish that their agreement with plaintiff,
an individual who had been engaged to advertise the
software via the internet by sending mass electronic mail
messages, was void. Defendants had not shown that the
purpose of their agreement with the individual was ille-
gal, and there was nothing inherently illegal about the
services provided by the individual.

(2) Civil Procedure. Summary Judgment. Appeala-
bility. Because the jury found in favor of defendants as
to plaintiff's fraud and promissory estoppel claims, any
argument that the trial court erred in denying summary
judgment as to those claims was moot.

(3) Evidence. Relevance. Relevant Evidence. Trial
court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence at
issue, as the reason an entity stopped selling a software
product was irrelevant to the issue of whether plaintiff
was owed commissions from defendants from past sales.
A prior Court of Appeals holding did not require reversal

of the trial court's exclusion of evidence regarding the
alleged illegality of an agreement.

COUNSEL: White & Johnson, Karen T. White, for ap-
pellants.

Angelo T. Merolla, for appellee.

JUDGES: RUFFIN, Judge. Blackburn, P. J., and Bernes,
J., concur.

OPINION BY: RUFFIN

OPINION
[**346]

[*322] RUFFIN, Judge.

Richard Saulsbury sued David Amnan Smith and T.
J. Hunter ("Defendants"), asserting claims for breach of
contract, fraud, and promissory estoppel. The Defendants
moved for summary judgment, alleging that the contract
was illegal and therefore unenforceable, and the trial
court denied the motion. A jury returned a verdict in fa-
vor of Saulsbury on his claim for breach of contract. On
appeal, the Defendants contend that the trial court erred
in denying their motion for summary judgment and in
excluding certain evidence. We affirm, for reasons that
follow.

David Arnan Smith was the sole member of
More2Save, LLC and T. J. Hunter was an employee of
the company. More2Save marketed and sold
"CloneMyDVD," an online software product used to
copy DVDs. CloneMyDVD contains a program that de-
crypts the protection included on a commercial DVD,
allowing users to make copies of the DVD. In March
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2003, More2Save engaged Saulsbury to advertise
CloneMyDVD via the Internet by sending mass elec-
tronic mail ("e-mail") messages. The sales were pro-
cessed through PaySystems, a third-party merchant sys-
tem. The parties' [***2] oral agreement provided that
More2Save would pay Saulsbury approximately $ 25 for
each completed sale.

In May 2003, the Defendants learned that the motion
picture industry had initiated lawsuits against sellers of
products similar to CloneMyDVD for copyright in-
fringement, and that one lawsuit in particular had been
successful. In an effort to avoid "further legal exposure,"
More2Save stopped producing CloneMyDVD in May
2003. PaySystems froze the More2Save account pending
the processing of all remaining payments, voids, and
returns. As a result, More2Save stopped payment to
Saulsbury for his remaining earned commissions.

Saulsbury filed suit against the Defendants thereaf-
ter, asserting claims for breach of contract, fraud, and
promissory estoppel. ' The Defendants moved for sum-
mary judgment, primarily contending that the contract
between the parties was illegal and therefore void. The
trial court denied the motion. The jury found in favor of
the Defendants as to Saulsbury's claims for fraud and
promissory estoppel, and awarded Saulsbury $ 25,436
for his breach of contract claim.

1  Although it was named as a defendant in the
complaint, More2Save is not a party to this ap-
peal.

[*323] 1. On appeal, [***3] the Defendants ar-
gue that the trial court erred in denying their motion for
summary judgment. Specifically, the Defendants argue
that the contract between the parties was illegal and void,
and that Saulsbury failed to prove damages.

(a) Generally, a ruling on a motion for summary
judgment becomes moot following the verdict and judg-
ment. ? However, a party may appeal the denial of sum-
mary judgment as part of the direct appeal from the final
judgment "if the legal issues raised and resolved in
denying the motion for summary judgment were not
considered at trial." * Thus, because the issue of the pur-
ported illegality of the parties' contract was not presented
to the jury, we will review the trial court's denial of the
motion for summary judgment on this ground. * We will
not, however, consider the Defendants' argument on
summary judgment that Saulsbury failed to prove his
damages, since the jury considered damages in the sub-
sequent trial. * The Defendants also contend that Sauls-
bury failed to prove his damages at frial. Because the
[**347] Defendants failed to enumerate this argument,
we do not consider it. ¢

2 See Kicklighter v. Woodward, 267 Ga. 157,
162 (5) (476 SE2d 248) (1996).

3 (Punctuation [***4] omitted.) Coregis Ins.
Co. v. Nelson, 282 Ga. App. 488, 489 (1) (639
SE2d 365) (2006); see also OCGA § 5-6-34 (d);
Lovell v. Rea, 278 Ga. App. 740, 742 (1) (629
SE2d 459) (2006).

4 Seeid.

5 Seeid.

6 See OCGA § 5-6-40; Dole v. State, 256 Ga.
App. 146, 148 (2) (567 SE2d 756) (2002) (appel-
late jurisdiction limited to consideration of legal
grounds enumerated as error).

(b) The Defendants maintain that the parties’ con-
tract was void and unenforceable because the sale of
CloneMyDVD violated federal copyright law. 7 (1)
However, pretermitting whether it was a violation of
federal law to sell CloneMyDVD, the Defendants have
failed to establish that their agreement with Saulsbury
was void. In Georgia, "[a] contract fo do an ... illegal
thing is void." * But a contract does not fall within this
principle unless its object or purpose is illegal. > The pro-
hibition does not apply "where the object of the contract
is not [*324] illegal or against public policy, but
where the illegality is only collateral or remotely con-
nected to the contract.” *

7  Specifically, the Defendants argue that the
sale of their product violated /7 USCA § 1201 (a)
(2), which provides that

[n]o person shall manufacture,
import, offer [***5] to the pub-
lic, provide, or otherwise traffic in
any technology, product, service,
device, component, or part thereof,
that - (A) is primarily designed or
produced for the purpose of cir-
cumventing a technological meas-
ure that effectively controls access
to a work protected under this ti-
tle; (B) has only limited commer-
cially significant purpose or use
other than to circumvent a tech-
nological measure that effectively
controls access to a work protected
under this title; or (C) is marketed
by that person or another acting in
concert with that person with that
person's knowledge for use in cir-
cumventing a technological meas-
ure that effectively controls access
to a work protected under this title.
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8 (Empbhasis supplied.) OCGA § 13-8-1.

9  See Shannondoah, Inc. v. Smith, 140 Ga.
App. 200, 202 (230 SE2d 351) (1976).

10 Id.

Here, the Defendants have not shown that the pur-
pose of their agreement with Saulsbury was illegal. Pur-
suant to the parties' contract, Saulsbury sent e-mails to
potential customers whose e-mail addresses he obtained
by purchasing distribution lists. The e-mails contained a
link to the More2Save website. There is nothing inher-
ently illegal about the services provided by Saulsbury.
[***6] Although the ultimate sale or use of
CloneMyDVD -- if used to copy commercial DVDs that
contained encryption to preclude copying -- might have
violated federal copyright law, such alleged illegality
"was not required by the [parties'] contract and was inci-
dental to contract performance." "' Thus, the trial court
did not err in denying the Defendants' motion for sum-
mary judgment on this basis. "

11 Id at 203.

12 See RR.R Ltd. Partnership v. Recreational
Sves., 264 Ga. 494, 496-497 (2) (448 SE2d 211)
(1994); Shannondoah, Inc., supra.

(c) The Defendants also contend that they were enti-
tled to summary judgment because Saulsbury "presented
insufficient evidence to support his claim." We disagree.

In their brief in support of their motion, the Defend-
ants argued that the contract was illegal, and that Sauls-
bury failed to produce evidence to support his claims for
fraud and promissory estoppel. With regard to the breach
of contract claim, the Defendants' primary argument was
that the contract was void and unenforceable. " A trial
court properly grants summary judgment when the mov-
ing party demonstrates there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment
[***7] as a matter of law. " The moving party may dis-
charge his burden by demonstrating the absence of evi-
dence to support the nonmoving party's case. ' If the
moving party discharges this burden, the nonmoving
party is required to point to specific evidence giving rise
to a triable issue. '* Here, as set forth in Division 1 (b),
the Defendants did not demonstrate that the contract be-
tween the parties [**348] was void. Therefore, be-
cause they did not meet their burden on summary judg-
ment, Saulsbury was not required to point to evidence in
the record to rebut this defense. ”

13 Indeed, the Defendants conceded in their
brief to the trial court that "questions may exist as
to whether Plaintiff has been paid his full com-
missions."

14  See Gilley v. Hudson, 283 Ga. App. 878,
879 (642 SE2d 898) (2007); see also OCGA §
9-11-56 (c).

15 See Gilley, supra.

16 See id.; see also OCGA § 9-11-56 (e).

17 See Gilley, supra.

[*325] As set forth in Division 1 (a), because the
jury considered Saulsbury's damages evidence at trial,
we will not consider the Defendants' argument that he
failed to produce evidence of his damages for breach of
contract in response to the Defendants' motion for sum-
mary judgment. " (2) And because the jury [***8]
found in favor of the Defendants as to Saulsbury's fraud
and promissory estoppel claims, any argument that the
trial court erred in denying summary judgment as to
these claims is moot.

18 See Lovell, supra.

2. Before trial, Saulsbury moved in limine to ex-
clude any evidence regarding the purported illegality of
the sale of CloneMyDVD, and the trial court granted the
motion, concluding that the evidence was not relevant.
On appeal, the Defendants allege that the trial court erred
in excluding such evidence. This argument presents no
basis for reversal.

Although Georgia law favors the admission of rele-
vant evidence, "[e]vidence that does not bear directly or
indirectly on the questions being tried should be exclud-
ed as irrelevant." " The determination of whether evi-
dence is relevant lies within the discretion of the trial
court, whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal
absent an abuse of discretion. ¥

19 H. D. McCondichie Properties v. Ga. Dept.
of Transp., 280 Ga. App. 197, 198 (1) (633 SE2d
558) (2006); see also OCGA § 24-2-1; Kicklight-
er, supra at 161 (4).

20  See Kicklighter, supra; Brock v. Wedin-
camp, 253 Ga. App. 275, 281 (1) (558 SE2d 836)
(2002); Johnson v. Riverdale Anesthesia Assoc.,
249 Ga. App. 152 (1) (547 SE2d 347) (2001).
[***9]

Here, the issue before the jury was whether the De-
fendants breached their agreement to pay Saulsbury
commissions on sales of their product. The trial court
permitted the Defendants to present evidence and argu-
ment that PaySystems had stopped paying More2Save at
some point, and that certain sales were returned or can-
celled. We agree with the trial court that the reason
More2Save stopped selling CloneMyDVD was irrelevant
to the issue of whether Saulsbury was owed commissions
from the Defendants from past sales. *' And, "[e]ven if
relevant, the trial court was authorized to conclude that
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the substantially prejudicial impact of the evidence far
outweighed any probative value." # (3) Thus, the trial
court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the evi-
dence at issue.

21 See Kicklighter, supra.

22 Seeid.
23 See H. D. McCondichie, supra; Kicklighter,
supra.

In support of their position, the Defendants rely up-
on Carter v. Moody, * in which the plaintiff sought en-
forcement of an agreement [*326] whereby he agreed
to sell certain securities. * The defendant sought to in-
troduce evidence and argument that the stock purchase
agreement was unlawful because it required the sale of
unregistered securities [***10] in violation of the
Georgia Securities Act. * The trial court excluded the
evidence, and we reversed, finding that the trial court
erred in foreclosing the defendant's illegality defense. *

In the instant case, as set forth in Division 1 (b) -- unlike
in Carter v. Moody -- the purpose of the parties' agree-
ment was not unlawful. Accordingly, contrary to the De-
fendants' argument, our holding in Carter v. Moody does
not require reversal of the trial court's exclusion of the
evidence regarding the alleged illegality of the agreement
in this case.

24 236 Ga. App. 262 (511 SE2d 520) (1999).
25 See id at 263; see also OCGA §§ 10-5-5;

10-5-12.
26  See Carter, supra at 264.
27 Seeid.

[**349] 3. Saulsbury's motion to dismiss the De-
fendants' appeal is dismissed as moot.

Judgment affirmed. Blackburn, P. J., and Bernes, J.,
concur.





